REPORT	DOCUMENTATION PAGE			Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
gathering and maintaining the data needed, and co	ompleting and reviewing the collection of inf he burden, to Department of Defense, Wash ogton, VA 22202-4302. Respondents sho formation if it does not display a currently v	ormation. Send con	nments regard	ne for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, ling this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of rectorate for information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), ng any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
26-10-2006 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE	Technical R	eport	15a CO	January 2006 - September 2006
Failure Analysis and Prevention fo	r the Air Logistics Center Eng	ineer.		F05611-03-D-003
CAStLE Course Development Sun		incer.	51 05	
0.12.22 00000 2 0.00pmon 0.00			55. GR4	ANT NUMBER
			5c. PRC	OGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S)			5d. PRC	JECT NUMBER
Gregory A. Shoales, Jason Avram,	James M. Greer, and Sandeep	Shah		
			5e. TAS	SK NUMBER
			EF WOI	
7 DEREORNING OR ANIZATION NA				8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NA				REPORT NUMBER
Center for Aircraft Structural Life Department of Engineering Mecha				USAFA-TR-2006-08
2354 Fairchild Drive, Suite 2J2, U		0		
,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGE	NCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES	5)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
WRALC/EN				
450 Third St., Bldg 323				
Robins AFB, GA 31098				11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY ST	ATEMENT	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Distribution A: APPROVED FOR	PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRI	BUTION UNI	LIMITED	
	·····			
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				
14. ABSTRACT		<u> </u>		
United States Air Force (USAF) A	ir Logistics Center (ALC) engi	neers are assig	ened to	
support the maintenance of operati	onal aircraft fleets. As a result,	they need to b	be well	
trained in specialized engineering t				
are those of structural failure analy				
commercially available short cours have been found that target the spe				
courses have instructors with first-l				511
challenges faced by ALC engineers				
engineers to a vendor site for a wee				
Supporting the USAE aircraft fleet	while minimizing the impact.	to operations.	roquirec	
course development, failure analys	is failure prevention, Air Logis	tics Center tra	ining, cas	se studies
	<u>-</u>		-	
		40 100000		·
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF: a. REPORT   b. ABSTRACT   c. TH	17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	18. NUMBER OF		ME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
	IS FAGE	PAGES		gory A. Shoales, P.E. EPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)
Unclassified Unclassified Uncl	assified	366		719.333.6213
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98)

,

**Best Available Copy** 

## **INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING SF 298**

**1. REPORT DATE.** Full publication date, including day, month, if available. Must cite at least the year and be Year 2000 compliant, e.g. 30-06-1998; xx-06-1998; xx-xx-1998.

**2. REPORT TYPE.** State the type of report, such as final, technical, interim, memorandum, master's thesis, progress, quarterly, research, special, group study, etc.

**3. DATES COVERED.** Indicate the time during which the work was performed and the report was written, e.g., Jun 1997 - Jun 1998; 1-10 Jun 1996; May - Nov 1998; Nov 1998.

**4. TITLE.** Enter title and subtitle with volume number and part number, if applicable. On classified documents, enter the title classification in parentheses.

**5a. CONTRACT NUMBER.** Enter all contract numbers as they appear in the report, e.g.' F33615-86-C-5169.

**5b. GRANT NUMBER.** Enter all grant numbers as they appear in the report, e.g. AFOSR-82-1234.

**5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER.** Enter all program element numbers as they appear in the report, e.g. 61101A.

**5d. PROJECT NUMBER.** Enter all project numbers as they appear in the report, e.g. 1F665702D1257; ILIR.

**5e. TASK NUMBER.** Enter all task numbers as they appear in the report, e.g. 05; RF0330201; T4112.

**5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER.** Enter all work unit numbers as they appear in the report, e.g. 001; AFAPL30480105.

**6.** AUTHOR(S). Enter name(s) of person(s) responsible for writing the report, performing the research, or credited with the content of the report. The form of entry is the last name, first name, middle initial, and additional qualifiers separated by commas, e.g. Smith, Richard, J, Jr.

7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES). Self-explanatory.

**8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER.** Enter all unique alphanumeric report numbers assigned by the performing organization, e.g. BRL-1234; AFWL-TR-85-4017-Vol-21-PT-2.

**9.** SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES). Enter the name and address of the organization(s) financially responsible for and monitoring the work.

**10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S).** Enter, if available, e.g. BRL, ARDEC, NADC.

**11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S).** Enter report number as assigned by the sponsoring/ monitoring agency, if available, e.g. BRL-TR-829; -215.

**12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT.** Use agency-mandated availability statements to indicate the public availability or distribution limitations of the report. If additional limitations/ restrictions or special markings are indicated, follow agency authorization procedures, e.g. RD/FRD, PROPIN, ITAR, etc. Include copyright information.

**13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES.** Enter information not included elsewhere such as: prepared in cooperation with; translation of; report supersedes; old edition number, etc.

**14. ABSTRACT.** A brief (approximately 200 words) factual summary of the most significant information.

**15. SUBJECT TERMS.** Key words or phrases identifying major concepts in the report.

**16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION.** Enter security classification in accordance with security classification regulations, e.g. U, C, S, etc. If this form contains classified information, stamp classification level on the top and bottom of this page.

**17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT.** This block must be completed to assign a distribution limitation to the abstract. Enter UU (Unclassified Unlimited) or SAR (Same as Report). An entry in this block is necessary if the abstract is to be limited.

# Failure Analysis and Prevention for the Air Logistics Center Engineer: CAStLE Course Development Summary

Gregory A. Shoales, Jason Avram, James M. Greer, and Sandeep Shah

## Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAStLE) Department of Engineering Mechanics

HQ USAFA/DFEM 2354 Fairchild Drive, Suite 2J2 USAF Academy CO 80840-6240 (719) 333-6213, DSN 333-6213

September 2006

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED





DEAN OF THE FACULTY UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ACADEMY COLORADO 80840

# 20061212256

## **Coordination and Approval**

This article, Failure Analysis and Prevention for the Air Logistics Center Engineer: CAStLE Course Development Summary, is presented as a competent treatment of the subject, worthy of publication. The United States Air Force Academy vouches for the quality of the research, without necessarily endorsing the opinions and conclusions of the authors. Therefore, the views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not reflect the official policy or position of the United States Air Force, Department of Defense, or the US Government.

This report has been cleared for open publication and public release by the appropriate Office of Information in accordance with AFI 61-202 and USAFA FOI 190-1. This report may have unlimited distribution.

Prepared by:

Thuler

Gregor A. Shoales, Ph.D., P.E. Senior Research Engineer Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension

The report has been reviewed and is approved for publication.

SCOTT A. FAWAZ, Lt Col, USAF Director Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension

\_ 30 Sep 06 \_\_\_\_ Date

\_27 Oct 06 \_\_\_\_ Date

#### Abstract

United States Air Force (USAF) Air Logistics Center (ALC) engineers are assigned to support the maintenance of operational aircraft fleets. As a result, they need to be well trained in specialized engineering topics related to that mission. Not the least of these topics are those of structural failure analysis and designing structure to prevent failure. While many commercially available short courses may appear to address these topics by their title, none have been found that target the specific needs of the ALC engineer. Furthermore, few such courses have instructors with first-hand knowledge of the duty requirements of and challenges faced by ALC engineers. These shortcomings not withstanding, sending ALC engineers to a vendor site for a week-long short course presents further challenges. Supporting the USAF aircraft fleet, while minimizing the impact to operations, requires quick response to all engineering issues. Having ALC engineers off-site and away from their duties, for even a week, adds an unnecessary schedule burden to that support process. While some commercial vendors will provide on-site training, this option is not without a further cost burden over and above the already high short course cost.

The ALC Engineering Directorate at Warner-Robins Air Logistics Center sought to address the aforementioned training shortfall by tasking the USAF Academy's Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAStLE) to design a course to meet this need. This report details the result of that tasking. It presents the unique qualifications of CAStLE engineers as providers of current aging aircraft data and analysis tools, engineering faculty members and experienced ALC engineers. The development of the course, Failure Analysis and *Prevention for the ALC Engineer*, is chronicled in detail. These details include the course goal, course objectives, lesson objectives and all material used to present 30 topic lessons, guest lectures and case studies. This report further details the first course delivery at Robins Air Force Base (AFB) along with a complete analysis assessing the result of that delivery. Extensive attachments include student handouts for course administration, graphical material used for each lesson, case study scenario handouts, guest lecture material and raw assessment critique data. The course was very well received at the ALC and, as a result, additional offerings are planned in the future both at Robins AFB and at other USAF locations. As verified by student assessment, the resulting CAStLE course was directly on target with the current needs of the ALC engineer. This specialized course was delivered on-site with up-to-date professionally produced course books and electronic media for less than 40% of the cost of the typical commercially available general failure analysis course.

## Contents

Coordination and Approval
Abstractii
Contentsiii
List of Figures iv
List of Tablesiv
1. Background 1
2. Course Development
2.1 Target Student1
2.2 Course Goal and Objectives
2.3 Instructional Format
2.4 Lesson Development
2.4.1 Topical Recitations
2.4.2 Case Studies
2.4.3 Guest Lectures
3. Course Development Results
3.1 Delivery
3.2 Assessment
3.2.1 Lesson Surveys
3.2.2 End-of-Course Surveys
4. Conclusions and Recommendations
APPENDIX A: Course Administrative Student Handouts
APPENDIX B: Graphical Material used to Present Recitation LessonsB1
APPENDIX C: Case Study Scenario HandoutsC1
APPENDIX D: Graphical Material used to Present Guest Lectures
APPENDIX E: End-of-Course Survey Raw DataE1

.

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1: Typical lesson survey which students filled out after each lesson	7
Figure 2: Averaged quantitative course survey questions listed by lesson title	8
Figure 3: End-of-course survey questions.	9

## List of Tables

,

Table 1: Failure Analysis and Prevention for the ALC Engineer course goal and objectives	3
Table 2: Failure Analysis and Prevention for the Air Logistics Center Engineer course	
syllabus and schedule	4
Table 3: CAStLE instructors for 17-21 April 2006 delivery of Failure analysis and	
Prevention for the ALC Engineer at Robins AFB, GA.	7

.

## 1. Background

The Engineering Directorate at Warner-Robins Air Logistics Center (ALC) is, among other things, responsible for maintaining the technical excellence of the ALC's engineering workforce. While it is expected that all engineers are products of accredited engineering programs, the Engineering Directorate seeks to ensure their engineers are up to date in topics which are relevant to the ALC engineer. To this end, they execute and track individual training programs for each of their assigned engineers. Topics which are particularly appropriate to the ALC engineer is that of structural failure analysis and, to even greater extent, design aimed at the prevention of such failures. This need is in fact common to all United States Air Force (USAF) ALCs.

A number of organizations offer short courses in failure analysis but few have the flexibility or expertise to tailor a course to specific ALC needs. Additionally, courses that require travel to an off-site facility are difficult to schedule around the high demands of supporting the operational USAF fleet.

The USAF Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAStLE) is uniquely qualified to answer this ALC need. The primary mission of CAStLE is to provide data and tools aimed at solving current aircraft structures issues, and many of CAStLE's past and present projects respond to specific ALC requirements. CAStLE is integrated into the USAF Academy's Department of Engineering Mechanics (DFEM) and as such has complete access to all curriculum, instructional tools and faculty. Lastly, many of the CAStLE engineers are former DFEM faculty themselves with a combined 26 plus years of curriculum development, course directorship and classroom instruction at both the USAF Academy (USAFA) and the USAF Test Pilot School (TPS). Their faculty experience is in addition to over 70 combined years of aerospace engineering experience with more than 25 of that in the air logistics engineering specialty.

Given the need and the stated CAStLE qualifications, a program was undertaken in Fiscal Year 2006 (FY06) to design and deliver a course of instruction in *Failure Analysis and Prevention for the ALC Engineer*. This report documents the result of that program.

## 2. Course Development

## 2.1 Target Student

The starting place for this course development was the DFEM course titled Engineering Mechanics (EM) 445, Failure Analysis and Prevention. EM 445 is an undergraduate, optional course offered to USAFA Engineering majors after they have completed the required prerequisite courses which cover the following topics:

- elastic deformation
- failure criteria
- yielding and strengthening mechanisms
- linear elastic fracture mechanics
- fracture toughness
- fatigue failure

- fatigue crack growth
- fatigue life estimation
- creep

Given the diverse sources of engineering education across the ALC, it was unreasonable to assume that all potential students would have familiarity with all of these topics. Therefore, the decision was made to only limit attendance to engineers that had, at minimum, a modest level of experience in the ALC environment.

The following excerpt from the Course Introduction (Appendix A) captures the pre-requisite knowledge which served as the basis for the subject course development.

Target Student:A company grade officer or GS-9/11/12 with a B.S. (minimum) in<br/>mechanical engineering, aeronautical engineering or engineering<br/>mechanics and one to five years of aircraft structures experience and at<br/>least one year of retainability at Robins AFB.

#### 2.2 Course Goal and Objectives

The emphasis in the USAF Academy's EM 445 course is in failure analysis to include the laboratory techniques associated with evaluating failed structure. Additionally, the structure analyzed in EM 445 is not limited to aircraft. Laboratory techniques studied include specimen sectioning, specimen preparation and use of the multitude of tools that could be involved in a metallographic and/or fractographic evaluation. While such detail is appropriate to the undergraduate course, and may be useful background for an ALC engineer, it is not generally part of their day-to-day duties. Early on in the course development program, the Engineering Directorate identified *prevention* as being the focus of the ALC course. While the course would still address failure analysis, the instructional methodology was directed at addressing the prevention issue as it applies to typical aircraft structure. Laboratory techniques were sufficiently addressed only to the extent that students would understand the methods and effort involved in conducting a metallographic and/or fractographic evaluation, without necessarily being qualified to conduct one themselves.

The next step in development, as with any course, was the establishment of a course goal and supporting course objectives. These were developed by the CAStLE curriculum team and approved by the customer at the beginning of the development program. Table 1 is excerpted from the Course Introduction portion of the Administrative Student Handouts found in Appendix A and shows the resulting course goal and objectives.

#### Table 1: Failure Analysis and Prevention for the ALC Engineer course goal and objectives.

#### **Course Goal**

Students will understand how structural components fail. They will use this understanding to analyze failed components and determine the causes of failure as well as make recommendations to prevent future occurrences of failure.

recommendations to prevent future occurrences of failure.

## **Course Objectives:**

Upon completion of this course, students will be able to:

1. *Analyze* structures for the mechanisms of failure by elastic and plastic deformation, linear elastic fracture mechanics, fatigue, corrosion and wear.

2. *Identify* and *differentiate* between observable fractographic features that indicate failures caused by yielding, fracture, fatigue, corrosion and wear in metals.

3. *Identify* the elements of failure in composite materials.

4. *Recommend* qualitative and quantitative changes to prevent future occurrences of failure.
5. *Understand* the history and impact of structural failure upon Air Force operational

readiness and its Aircraft Structural Integrity Program.

## **2.3 Instructional Format**

Ordinarily the next step in a course development is the establishment of lesson objectives that support the course objectives. In the case of a professional education course to be delivered to engineers at their duty stations, however, an additional step was necessary. This was to arrive at an agreement as to the amount of time to be allocated for the course. Equally important was how that time would be distributed in each day of instruction. Given this information the total time could be divided into reasonable blocks of instruction, thereby setting the number of lesson blocks available. These blocks were then allocated to individual lesson objectives in order to best serve the course goal.

Direction from the ALC Engineering Directorate set the course time block to be from 0800 to 1530 on Monday through Friday in a single week. This daily schedule was chosen so that engineers could still access their office during part of the normal duty day in order to address their most urgent duty requirements. Further discussions between the Engineering Directorate, CAStLE and other USAFA faculty members led to the decision that a fifty (50) minute block of instruction followed by ten (10) minute breaks would form the building block for each lesson. This length would permit enough time to address a topic, present examples or work on case studies without being unduly fatiguing to the students. Given the necessary time for lunch break, the chosen format resulted six lesson blocks per day with three in the morning and three in the afternoon, 30 lesson blocks in all.

The CAStLE plan for distribution of lesson topics amongst the 30 lesson blocks took into consideration a variety of factors. The first was the perceived importance of each topic to the daily mission of the USAF ALC engineer. This input was based on discussions with engineers in the Engineering Directorate as well as those assigned to the various ALC Program Offices to include the Aircraft Structural Integrity Program (ASIP) managers themselves. Additionally, such inputs were received directly from CAStLE engineers and DFEM faculty as many of them served in these positions during previous assignments. Another consideration was directed at serving the course development goal of having a

course adapted to the "Target Student" as identified in Section 2.1. Given the expectedly diverse educational and experiential backgrounds in the potential student, this consideration required a gradual building of topic complexity. Introductory lessons would start with basic engineering knowledge (statics, strength of materials, etc.) as it applies to the analysis and prevention of structural failure. More advanced topics would then build on these introductory lessons. They would address objectives which are directly aimed at performing failure investigations and designing preventative courses of action. A related consideration was to make use of the daily schedule so as to present multi-lesson topics together in the same day. Since the multi-part topics build upon one another in sequence, scheduling them together maximizes student retention and therefore enhances instructional efficiency. Lastly, hands-on in-class student group analysis projects, called Case Studies, were used to reinforce blocks of topics. These Case Studies made use of real-life scenarios to emphasize the presented topics. Here again, in order to maximize efficiency, a case study was incorporated at the end of the relevant block of topics. Case Studies also served to "break up the day" by diverting from the sequence of class recitations. These lesson-block long exercise required student to apply what they just learned.

The resulting course syllabus and schedule is presented in Table 2.

ан 1	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
0800-0820	Lesson 1: Introduction to Failure Analysis	<u>Lesson 6:</u> <u>Distortion Failures</u>	<u>Lesson 11:</u> <u>Corrosion I</u>	<u>Lesson 16.</u> Fatigue I	<u>Lesson 21:</u> <u>Nondestructive</u> <u>Inspection Guest</u> <u>Lecture</u>
0560-0060	<u>Lesson 2:</u> <u>The Failure Analysis</u> <u>Method</u>	Lesson 7: Fracture Modes and Stress Systems	<u>Lesson 12:</u> <u>Corrosion II</u>	<u>Lesson 17:</u> Fatigue II	<u>Lesson 22:</u> <u>Composites Failures</u>
1000-1050	<u>Lesson 3:</u> Conditions for Failure	<u>Lesson 8:</u> <u>Ductile vs. Brittle</u> <u>Fracture</u>	Lesson 13: Corrosion Guest Lecture	<u>Lesson 18:</u> Fatigue III	<u>Lesson 23:</u> <u>Manufacturing Failures</u>
: 			Lunch		
1230-1320	<u>Lesson 4:</u> <u>Residual Stresses I</u>	Lesson 9: Metallography and Fractography	<u>Case Study 3:</u> <u>Corrosion</u>	<u>Lesson 19:</u> <u>Nondestructive</u> <u>Inspection I</u>	<u>Case Study 5:</u> Summary Case Studies
1330-1420	<u>Lesson 5:</u> <u>Residual Stresses II</u>	Lesson 10: Metallography and Fractography Applications	<u>Lesson 14:</u> <u>Wear</u>	Lesson 20: Nondestructive Inspection II	<u>Lesson 24:</u> <u>Material Substitution</u> for Failure Prevention
1430-1520	<u>Case Study 1:</u> <u>Residual Stress</u>	<u>Case Study 2:</u> Failure Modes	Lesson 15: LEFM	<u>Case Study 4:</u> <u>NDI and Fatigue</u>	<u>Lesson 25:</u> <u>ASIP</u>

<b>Table 2: Failure Analysis and Prevention for</b>	r the Air Logistics	Center Engineer	course syllabus and
schedule.			

A final aspect of the instructional format was class size. The desired class size was set at approximately twenty students. The goal here was to accommodate as many students as possible while not making the class so big that it would hinder individualized attention.

Individual attention is critical during any type of instruction in order to make dynamic adjustments to the pace of each lesson. One example of such an adjustment would be to slow down and re-emphasize a point with a relevant example if the pace was "losing" some students. At the same time if the topic is too familiar to the majority of the students, the pace can be accelerated, giving time to add more detail to a given lesson, thus keeping the class engaged. Having too many students hinders the ability of any instructors to assess the appropriateness of the lessons pace. A reasonable instructor-to-student ratio was also important during the Case Studies in order to allow that sufficient attention be given to each group. An ideal class size of twenty (20) students was chosen was based on the combined experience of the hundreds of engineering sections taught at USAFA and USAF TPS by the course developers.

#### 2.4 Lesson Development

The final phase of course development was to establish individual lesson objectives that would best support the course objectives and goal. Lesson objectives by definition are measurable statements of achievement for each lesson. Lesson objectives most frequently take the format of specifying what the student will know at the conclusion of each lesson. In the simplest terms, if a student satisfies the requirements of a set of lesson objectives which support the course objectives, then the instructor can be reasonably sure that the course goal has been met. In the typical class environment these objectives are assessed through graded events such as homework, projects and exams. One of the stated requirements from the Engineering Directorate of our development effort was that there would be no out of class assignments. The goal of this requirement was similar to the need for having our course offered on base in the first place; to deliver the course while minimizing the burden on the already heavily tasked ALC engineer. Achieving lesson objectives was therefore, for the most part, left up to the professionalism of the student. One exception was our integration of the Case Studies into the daily schedule. These exercises were done in small groups. As such, there was a certain amount of peer pressure to know the material presented and contribute to the group's effort. Additionally, the student interaction with instructors during lessons and their responses to various surveys was used to qualitatively assess the objectives.

The lesson objectives for each of the 30 lesson blocks shown in Table 2 are included in the Administrative Student Handouts found in Appendix A. The lessons can be divided into three primary categories as described in the following sections.

#### **2.4.1 Topical Recitations**

These lessons include introductory lessons of the more elementary material and advanced topics. The introductory lessons were designed to help "level the field" of education background in the course participants. These lessons built from the assumed prerequisite knowledge of any student which met the *target student* population. Advanced topics built off the introductory lessons to address specific knowledge required to achieve the course objectives and therefore meet the course goal. The delineation between what constituted an introductory lesson as opposed to an advanced lesson was of course dependent upon the specific educational background and professional experience of the individual student. Part of the curricular design included the incorporation of "topic teasers." The topic teasers were essentially small case studies which could be presented in just a few minutes. All topic

teasers applied directly to the lesson topic and were case studies of real-world failures. The instructor would use these at various times during the lesson to motivate the topic and to provide insight as to its application. The recitation lessons are the light blue boxes in Table 2. The graphical materials used to present each of these topics are included in Appendix B.

## 2.4.2 Case Studies

As previously stated, the Case Studies served to reinforce a given block of lesson objectives by practical application of those objectives. They also provided a daily change of pace from the recitations. Case Studies afforded students exposure to real-world failure analysis scenarios that they might not have otherwise experienced in their current duties. The case study topics are shown by the tan boxes in Figure 1. Using a building block approach, the case study scenarios evolved during the course from a guided exercise to the more open ended analysis which required synthesis of a variety of course topics. All Case Study handouts are included in Appendix C.

#### 2.4.3 Guest Lectures

As the name implies, these lesson brought in a guest from some particular USAF center of expertise. The intent of these lessons was to not only provide additional detail but also to obtain an official USAF point of view. Guests from the Air Force Research Laboratory (AFRL) non-destructive inspection office and the Air Force Corrosion Prevention and Control Office (AFCPCO) served in this capacity. It is worth noting that the guests were provided with lessons objective, as given in Appendix A, to ensure their presentation supported the course objectives. Their lessons are noted by the yellow boxes in Figure 1. The graphical materials used by the guests to present their topics are included in Appendix D.

An additional guest lecture was added to the schedule shown in Figure 1. This was a lesson in the usage of the AFGROW crack growth software. The opportunity to have Mr. Jim Harter of AFRL present AFGROW to the class arose after the schedule had been set. Rather than eliminating a topic to make room, arrangements were made to have a working lunch on Thursday. This period was then used by Mr. Harter to give his AFGROW overview. All presentation material along with supplemental AFGROW guidance is also included in Appendix D.

## 3. Course Development Results

This section describes the result of the course development effort based on its first offering.

#### 3.1 Delivery

The first offering of *Failure Analysis and Prevention for the ALC Engineer* was delivered the week of 17-21 April 2006 at Robins AFB, GA. The CAStLE instructors for this first offering are shown in Table 3.

There were 22 students in this offering. In addition to Robins AFB students, this total included two students from Tinker AFB and one from Hill AFB. Students ranged from very junior engineers to senior ASIP managers. The class included both military and civilian engineers.

ALC Engineer at Robins AFB, GA. Name	Title
Dr. Gregory A. Shoales, P.E.	CAStLE Senior Research Engineer and
Dr. Sandeep Shah	CAStLE Senior Metallurgist
Capt. Jason Avram	DFEM EM 445 Course Director and former ALC Engineer

# Table 3: CAStLE instructors for 17-21 April 2006 delivery of Failure analysis and Prevention for the ALC Engineer at Robins AFB, GA.

All students were provided with printed copies of all items presented in Appendices A through D in a course notebook. This course notebook was not only intended to be used during the course delivery but also to be available as a reference after the course was complete. Each document was also provided electronically to all students on a CD. Additionally, this CD contained a wide variety of supplemental material also intended as a useful reference for students. These included publications which addressed corrosion, structural integrity programs, material substitution, NDI techniques and a vast assortment of failure analysis case studies.

The facility used was the Eagle Conference Room in the Robins AFB Museum. The room was configured with large tables which afforded each student ten to twelve square feet of work space. All graphical materials were projected onto an eight foot wide screen. The projection system had sufficient lumens to provide clear, high contrast images under full room lighting.

## 3.2 Assessment

All students were made aware of the developmental nature of the course and that their input would greatly enhance the development process. To this end they were asked to complete a brief survey after each lesson and an end-of-course survey after the very last lesson block on Friday.

## 3.2.1 Lesson Surveys

The lessons surveys all included the same four questions shown in Figure 1 from Lesson 1.

This materi		action to Failure	Analy	/sis	
1 maior	al wa	s new to me:	5		
0	1	2	3	4	
Not at		About		All of	
All		Half		It	
This materi 0	al wil 1	l be useful to me 2	e in m 3	y job: 4	
Not at		Moderately		Most	
All				Useful	

Figure 1: Typical lesson survey which students filled out after each lesson.

The first two questions called for a quantitative assessment of the presented topic. The first of these called for a judgment of the whether or not the lesson taught them something new. The second simply asked for whether or not the lesson topic was applicable to their assigned duties in the ALC. An average response of greater than 2.0 on the first would indicate that the majority of the lesson was new material to the class. Similarly, an average response of 2.0 or greater on the second would indicate that the topic was useful to the class. It was expected that the introductory lessons, the earlier topics, would be useful to most but not necessarily new. It was hoped that all topics would be considered useful to the class as this was the goal of the topic selection process.



The averaged results from both quantitative course survey questions are presented graphically in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Averaged quantitative course survey questions listed by lesson title.

As expected, some of the introductory topics did not present new material to the majority of the students. All lessons addressed topics which the class considered useful to their assigned ALC duties.

The last two lesson survey questions sought comments to help enhance the lessons for future offerings. The last of these was specifically targeted at obtaining new case studies from the recent experiences of the class members. Unfortunately the responses to both questions were extremely limited. The only significant comments addressed the guest lecturers. Several comments agreed that the presentation made by the guest from the AFCPCO did not support

the lesson objectives or the course goal. While this comment was shared by nearly half the class it was curious given the somewhat high average ratings of 2.8 and 2.3 for "*new to me*" and "*useful in my job*" for this lesson. In contrast most students agreed that the NDI guest was not given enough time. While the presentation was very well received, the students just wanted to hear more of it. In fact, as an example of the dynamic adjustment discussed in Section 2.3, the NDI guest's time slot was extended by 30 minutes. The next two lessons were accelerated somewhat to keep the daily schedule within the given allotment.

## 3.2.2 End-of-Course Surveys

The end-of-course survey contained eight questions which were intended to evoke more input from the class of specific course enhancements. These questions are given in Figure 3.

## 1. What did you like about this course?

2. What did you dislike about this course?

3. Were having printed materials (your binder) an aid to your experience this week?

4. Do you think you will reference your book after this week? YES NO

5. Do you think you will reference your CD after this week? YES NO

6. Did the hour-long daily case studies support the course objectives?

7. What changes or additions would you suggest to make this course better for future offerings?

8. Would you recommend this course to another ALC engineer? YES NO Why or why not?

Figure 3: End-of-course survey questions.

The raw data from the end-of-course survey is included in Appendix E. These data are transcribed precisely as it was received. The remaining paragraphs in this subsection summarize the class response. All students liked the fact that the lessons were targeted at what they needed as ALC engineers. A repeated favorable comment was the application focus designed into the presentation of each topic. Another favorable comment was the feeling that the instructors were very knowledgeable in the subject and qualified, experienced instructors. Many topics were particularly cited by students as favorable inclusions in the course because of their applicability and/or the fact that they had little or no preparation for this material in school. Some of these topics included; LEFM, fatigue, NDI and corrosion.

As with all questions we urged student to think of some input for each. When it came to negative comments there was balance of responses that said more time should be spent on certain topics while other students said less time should be spent on those very same topics. This result is not surprising and confirms the expectation that the class would come from diverse education backgrounds. Other comments addressed delivery aspects such as the classroom image projection size and the comfort of the chairs. Overall, the negative

comments were not very telling when it comes to improvement. The one repeated negative comment addressed our decision to have AFGROW presented over a working lunch. As one student put it, this "made for a very long day". Others simply stated it was too much material in too short a period.

All students strongly agreed that having all material printed in advance and provided at the beginning of the course enhanced their learning experience. All students universally commented that they expected to reference both their course book and their course CD after the course week was complete. Another unanimous comment was in favor of the daily case studies. Students felt that the case studies, topic teasers and other in class examples were a critical component to being able to fully achieve the lesson objectives. One student even suggested it would be worth extending the class day in order to add to the number of case studies.

In answering question 7, while one student suggested the course could be shortened, most thought adding time material would improve future course offerings. Most agreed that the extra time should be devoted to increasing the number of case studies and real life examples.

Finally, all students said they would recommend this course to other ALC engineers. The reasons cited are similar to the favorable comments made in answering the previous questions. They emphasized the course's application to the ALC engineer's mission and the use of real-world examples. Students commented that this course should be required for all ALC engineers as well as all acquisition engineers. One student said "I grew a basic understanding of structural failure and analysis despite not having a structures background."

## 4. Conclusions and Recommendations

After reviewing all the data there did not seem to be any compelling reason to eliminate any particular topics nor significantly change the course sequence. In the initial course delivery three lessons lacked a topic teaser. Given the overwhelming importance students attached to this and other examples, future offering must include at least one topic teaser for each lesson.

The input of extending the class day must be balanced with the duty requirements of the participants. Clearly the three students that traveled away from their home station to take the course had more time available in their days. However, this surplus availability did not seem to be shared by the local participants. CAStLE concurred with the input from the Warner Robins ALC that student must be left with time in the day, however minimal, to address urgent tasks. Future offerings should be reevaluated by the participating ALC to determine the best balance of time to be dedicated to class time.

The guest lectures are somewhat dependent on the availability of the right individual from the outside agency. Some ALCs may even have in house individuals that would be more applicable to their mission than those used for the subject offering. Keeping the offering time equal, CAStLE would concur with the student comments that the guest time could be redistributed. The AFCPCO in particular did not adequately address the course objectives. Unless a better understanding of course requirements could be achieved, CAStLE would recommend deleting that guest from future offerings. CAStLE suggests using that time for a

more complete AFGROW presentation rather than use the working lunch concept. One caveat would be that the presenter must be highly experienced in the *teaching* the use of the AFGROW software package. Overall, guests must be well prepared by the course faculty and fully understand the course goal and their role in achieving the course objectives.

Follow-up conversations have taken place since this first offering. One of the students from the Oklahoma City ALC took his comments back to his engineering leadership. As a consequence of this input, CAStLE is slated to present the course to at least one class at Tinker AFB in FY07. Additionally, those responsible for engineering training at Warner-Robins ALC have expressed interest in one or two more additional offerings delivered during FY07 at Robins AFB. It is worth noting here that part of the subject course development tasking was to deliver all course material to the Robins AFB Engineering Directorate. Despite having accomplished this delivery, those in charge of the training programs have expressed a strong desire to have CAStLE present all future course offerings.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

## **APPENDIX A: Course Administrative Student Handouts**

Introduction, Goal, Objectives and Suggested Reading ListA	2
Lesson ObjectivesA	4





# Failure Analysis and Prevention for the Air Logistics Center Engineer

Course Description:	Failure mechanisms in typical aircraft structure are presented along with methods to identify each mechanism and its potential impact on structural integrity and life. Various laboratory and field techniques are presented to evaluate structural components to include nondestructive inspection and fractographic/metallographic analysis. Failure prevention methodologies are discussed including component redesign (changes in geometry, material selection and material processing), changes in operation (e.g., flight restrictions) and application of coatings.
Instructors:	USAF Academy's Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension
Primary Citations:	Donald J. Wulpi, Understanding How Components Fail, 2 <sup>nd</sup> ed. ASM International, 1999. Norman E. Dowling, Mechanical Behavior of Materials, 2 <sup>nd</sup> ed., Prentice Hall, Inc., 1999.
Course Goals:	Students will understand how structural components fail. They will use this understanding to analyze failed components and determine the causes of failure as well as make recommendations to prevent future occurrences of failure.
Course Objectives:	<ul> <li>Upon completion of this course, students will be able to:</li> <li>1. Analyze structures for the mechanisms of failure by elastic and plastic deformation, linear elastic fracture mechanics, fatigue, corrosion and wear.</li> <li>2. Identify and differentiate between observable fractographic features that indicate failures caused by yielding, fracture, fatigue, corrosion and wear in metals.</li> <li>3. Identify the elements of failure in composite materials.</li> <li>4. Recommend qualitative and quantitative changes to prevent future occurrences of failure.</li> <li>5. Understand the history and impact of structural failure upon Air Force operational readiness and its Aircraft Structural Integrity Program.</li> </ul>
Target Student:	A company grade officer or GS-9/11/12 with a B.S. (minimum) in mechanical engineering or aeronautical engineering or engineering mechanics and one to five years of aircraft structures experience and at least one year of retainability at Robins AFB.

#### ADDITIONAL COURSE CITATIONS

Boyer, H.E., and Gall, T.L., eds., <u>ASM Metals Handbook - Desk Edition</u>, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1985.

Davis, J.R., ed., Corrosion: Understanding the Basics, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 2000.

Davis, J.R., ed., Aluminum and Aluminum Alloys, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1993.

Dickson, J.I., ed., <u>Failure Analysis: Techniques and Applications - Conference Proceedings</u>, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1992.

Cartz, Louis, Nondestructive Testing, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1995.

Feld, Jacob and Carper, Kenneth L., Construction Failure, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1997.

Gibala,, R. and Hehemann, R.F., eds., <u>Hydrogen Embrittlement and Stress Corrosion Cracking</u>, American Society for Metals, Metals Park, OH, 1984.

Gordon, J.E., Structures: Or Why Things Don't Fall Down, Da Capo Press, New York, 1978.

Gordon, J.E., The New Science of Strong Materials, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1968.

Hutchings, F.R. and Unterweiser, P.M., Failure Analysis: The British Engine Technical Reports, American Society for Metals, Metals Park, Ohio, 1981.

Levy, Matthys and Salvadori, Mario, <u>Why Buildings Fall Down</u>, W.W. Norton & Co., New York, 1994.

Naumann, F.K., <u>Failure Analysis: Case Histories and Methodology</u>, American Society for Metals, Metals Park, OH, 1983.

Pilkey, W. D., Peterson's Stress Concentration Factors, 2nd Edition, Wiley Interscience, 1997.

Petroski, Henry, To Engineer is Human, Vintage Books, New York, 1982.

Petroski, Henry, <u>Design Paradigms: Case Histories of Error & Judgement in Engineering</u>, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1994.

Powell, G.W., et al, <u>A Fractographic Atlas of Casting Alloys</u>, Battelle Press, Columbus, OF, 1992.

Powell, G.W., ed., <u>ASM Handbook, Volume 11: Failure Analysis and Prevention</u>, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1986.

Raj, B., Jayakumar, T., and Thavasimuthu, M., <u>Practical Non-Destructive Testing</u>, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 2002.

Schlager, Neil, Breakdown, Visible Ink Press, Detroit, MI, 1995.

Uhl, R.C., ed., <u>Handbook of Case Histories in Failure Analysis</u>, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 1992.

Witherell, Charles E., <u>Mechanical Failure Avoidance – Strategies & Techniques</u>, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1994.

# Lesson Objectives

## Lesson 1: Introduction to Failure Analysis

- 1. **Define** "failure analysis"
- 2. Identify the main goal of failure analysis
- 3. Identify the most common aircraft structural failure modes

#### Lesson 2: Failure Analysis Method

- 1. Discuss steps of a failure analysis and describe their relationship to one another
- 2. Describe the guiding principles of failure analysis
- 3. Identify the basic questions that a failure analyst should be able to ask and answer
- 4. Describe how the concept of failure applies to more than just the fracture of a component

#### Lesson 3: Conditions for Failure

- 1. **Distinguish** between fracture and other failure modes
- 2. Identify the differences/similarities between various failure modes
- 3. Describe the relationship between conditions, capabilities and corresponding failure modes.

#### Lesson 4: Residual Stresses I

- 1. **Describe** how residual stresses are caused and describe their results
- 2. Distinguish between various types of residual stresses and their sources.

#### Lesson 5: Residual Stresses II

- 1. Describe how to produce beneficial residual stresses and know where they are useful
- 2. Identify potential applications of residual stress to failure prevention

## Lesson 6: Distortion Failures

- 1. **Define** distortion failure
- 2. **Describe** various distortion modes and the stress states that cause them
- 3. **Describe** the relationship between distortion and failure

#### Lesson 7: Fracture Modes and Stress Systems

- 1. **Distinguish** between the shear, cleavage, intergranular and fatigue modes of fracture
- 2. Describe the five basic stress systems that cause failure
- 3. Identify distinguishing visible features of tensile, torsional, bending, compression, & fatigue stress systems causing failure in brittle & ductile materials

## Lesson 8: Ductile vs. Brittle Fracture

- 1. **Determine** differences between brittle and ductile fracture
- 2. Describe fractographic appearances/differences of/between brittle and ductile fracture surfaces
- 3. **Discuss** the various factors which determine whether a component will fail in a brittle or ductile manner

#### Lesson 9: Metallography and Fractography

- 1. **Define** the difference between *metallography* and *fractography*
- 2. **Discuss** the principles of fractography and metallography
- 3. Describe the techniques used in performing a metallographic or fractographic evaluation

#### Lesson 10: Metallography and Fractography Applications

- 1. **Know** how a typical failure analysis investigation might be conducted
  - 2. Describe fracture surface characteristics and terminology associated with various failure modes
  - 3. Describe the limitations of metallography and fractography techniques/equipment

#### Lesson 11: Corrosion I

- 1. **Describe** the principles of corrosion
- 2. Discuss the material and environmental factors that contribute to corrosion

#### Lesson 12: Corrosion II

- 1. Identify the differences/similarities between different types of corrosion
- 2. **Describe** potential corrosion preventive measures

#### Lesson 13: Corrosion Guest Lecture

1. **Discuss** the USAF/DoD Corrosion Prevention Program

- 2. Describe how corrosion impacts structural life
- 3. Describe how corrosion impacts fleet management

Lesson 14: Wear

- 1. Discuss differences between types of wear and where each may be found
- 2. **Describe** contact stress fatigue
- 3. **Describe** the benefits/application of lubrication and other wear preventatives

Lesson 15: LEFM

- 1. **Discuss** the concept of stress concentrations
- 2. **Discuss** the foundations of fracture mechanics
- 3. Describe geometry factors used to solve fracture problems.
- 4. Describe how K<sub>C</sub> varies as thickness varies.
- 5. **Describe** how LEFM is used during the design (or re-design) process.
- 6. Discuss why fracture receives so much attention in failure analyses

Lesson 16: Fatigue I

- 1. Define fatigue
- 2. Identify the 3 stages of fatigue crack growth
- 3. **Describe** the primary fractographic features of fatigue in metals

Lesson 17: Fatigue II

- 1. Describe how specific fractographic features relate to fatigue stress conditions
- 2. Describe the effects of overloads on crack length, crack growth rate, and striation spacing

Lesson 18: Fatigue III

- 1. **Describe** the stress-based approach to fatigue analysis
- 2. **Describe** the fracture mechanics-based approach to fatigue analysis

#### Lesson 19: Nondestructive Inspection I

- 1. Discuss the relationship between failure analysis, prevention, and nondestructive inspection (NDI)
- 2. Describe various common NDI techniques
- 3. Identify the appropriate NDI technique to use for a given application
- Lesson 20: Nondestructive Inspection II
  - 1. **Define** basic NDI terms such as POD, POI and a<sub>DETECT</sub>
  - 2. Differentiate between an indication and a finding
  - 3. Discuss the reasonable expectations of various NDI techniques

Lesson 21: Nondestructive Inspection Guest Lecture

- 1. **Discuss** the field-ability of various NDI techniques/equipment
- 2. Describe how field-ability impacts the probability of inspection
- Lesson 22: Composites Failures
  - 1. **Define** a composite material
  - 2. Identify the various types of failure in composite materials
  - 3. Describe how processing quality impacts failure and/or life
  - 4. Describe composite structure failure inspection and prevention methods
- Lesson 23: Manufacturing Failures
  - 1. Discuss how mechanically fastened joint quality impacts failure and/or life
  - 2. Describe how material processing quality impacts failure and/or life
  - 3. Describe how bonded joint quality impacts failure and/or life

## Lesson 24: Material Substitution for Failure Prevention

- 1. Describe the life cycle of alloy development
- 2. **Discuss** how seemingly "poor" alloy choices may be made by manufacturers

3. **Discuss** how material substitution, without geometric redesign, can prevent failure

Lesson 25: ASIP

- 1. Distinguish between the safe-life, fail safe, and damage tolerant approaches to design
- 2. Define the USAF's Aircraft Structural Integrity Program (ASIP)

3. Discuss the magnitude of the USAF's "Aging Aircraft" problem

4. **Discuss** the relationship between ASIP and failure prevention

Case Study 1: Residual Stress

1. Apply failure analysis tools to the assessment of a real-world failure

2. **Recommend** possible corrective action(s) for a real-world failure

Case Study 2: Failure Modes

1. Apply failure analysis tools to the assessment of a real-world failure

2. **Recommend** possible corrective action(s) for a real-world failure

Case Study 3: Corrosion

1. Apply failure analysis tools to the assessment of a real-world failure

2. **Recommend** possible corrective action(s) for a real-world failure

Case Study 4: NDI and Fatigue

1. Apply failure analysis tools to the assessment of a real-world failure

2. **Recommend** possible corrective action(s) for a real-world failure

Case Study 5: Summary Case Studies

1. Apply failure analysis tools to the assessment of a real-world failure

2. **Recommend** possible corrective action(s) for a real-world failure

# **APPENDIX B: Graphical Material used to Present Recitation Lessons**

MONDAY	
Lesson 1: Introduction to Failure Analysis	B3
Lesson 2: Failure Analysis Method	B11
Lesson 3: Conditions for Failure	B21
Lesson 4: Residual Stresses I	B29
Lesson 5: Residual Stresses II	B37
TUESDAY	
Lesson 6: Distortion Failure	B45
Lesson 7: Fracture Modes and Stress Systems	B53
Lesson 8: Ductile vs. Brittle Fracture	B61
Lesson 9: Metallography and Fractography	B69
Lesson 10: Metallography and Fractography Applications.	B77
WEDNESDAY	ning an
Lesson 11: Corrosion I	B91
Lesson 12: Corrosion II	B101
Lesson 14: Wear	B111
Lesson 15: LEFM	B123
THURSDAY	
Lesson 16: Fatigue I	B131
Lesson 17: Fatigue II	B139
Lesson 18: Fatigue III	B145
Lesson 19: Nondestructive Inspection I	B151
Lesson 20: Nondestructive Inspection II	B161
FRIDAY	
Lesson 22: Composites Failures	B167
Lesson 23: Manufacturing Failures	
Lesson 24: Material Substitution for Failure Prevention	B193
Lesson 25: ASIP	B213

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

























Why Aircraft Fail USAF Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAS(LE)					
	Percentage of Failures				
	Engineering Components	Aircraft Components			
Corrosion	29	16			
Fatigue	25	55			
Brittle Fracture	16	-			
Overload	11	14			
High Temperature Corrosion	7	2			
SCC/Corrosion Fatigue	6	7			
Creep	3	•			
Wear/Abrasion/Erosion	3	6			








































































This Page Intentionally Left Blank





























This Page Intentionally Left Blank

.



























This Page Intentionally Left Blank


























This Page Intentionally Left Blank





























- B59 -































This Page Intentionally Left Blank





































Macroscopic Analysis (C-130 CWB Corner Fitting)

Visual inspection of the part with unaided or aided eye (up to 20X).

Advantages:

- Ease and convenience
- Larger area can be inspected with "Bird's Eye View".

Limitations:

- Only macro defects can be analyzed
- Subject to individual interpretation









• Only small area can be analyzed at a time.

• Careful interpretation required.







1
2
3
_




























This Page Intentionally Left Blank



































This Page Intentionally Left Blank



































	Anything Else?	X
- C ir - P - E • Eros - A	vice Corrosion capillary action of a joint pulls fluid (electrolyte) nside the crevice rotected from the outside xample: • joints • under deposits sion Corrosion as the name suggests combines corrosive event with a moving corrosive fluid nhances the kinetics of any corrosion process	
		18






















































	iser Effect	ě
<ul> <li>For an elliptical hole         <ul> <li>Significant k<sub>t</sub> increase near the hole tip</li> <li>K<sub>t</sub> ↑ as c/d ratio ↑</li> </ul> </li> <li>For a crack:         <ul> <li>c/d approaches ∞ (or ρ</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	(a) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c	cid - 3 $z = \frac{1}{2} \frac{r_{r_{2}}}{r_{2}}$ cid - 3 $z = \frac{1}{2} $
approaches 0)	c/d ratio	k,
– k <sub>t</sub> and σ <sub>max</sub> approach ∞	1/1	3.0
	1/4	1.5
	4/1	9.0
	10/1	21





















This Page Intentionally Left Blank





























This Page Intentionally Left Blank



















This Page Intentionally Left Blank


























































This Page Intentionally Left Blank



















































































This Page Intentionally Left Blank


































This Page Intentionally Left Blank





























































Comparison of K <sub>IC</sub> For Two Applications							
APPLICATION:	F Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extensio FUSELAGE	n (CASILE)					
REQUIREMENTS:	Modest strength High toughness	HIGH COMPRESSION YS USEFUL TOUGHNESS					
FRACTURE MODE:	TRANSGRANULAR OR INTERGRANULAR	HIGHLY TRANSGRANULAR					
METAL PURITY	LARGE EFFECT IF TRANSGRANULAR No effect if intergranular	EFFECT DECREASES AS YS INCREASES					
GRAIN STRUCTURE:	FINE RECRYSTALLIZED	UNRECRYSTALLIZED					
OUENCH RATE:	NOT HIGHLY SIGNIFICANT	HIGH AS POSSIBLE					
COLD WORK:	MEET YS REQUIREMENT	HIGHEST FOR 2XXX Minimum for 7xXX					
AGING:	NATURAL AGED 2XXX UNDERAGED AI-LI PEAK AGED 6XXX OVERAGED 7XXX	PEAK STRENGTH					
EXAMPLES:	2024-T3 2091- 8090 6013-T6 7475-T76	7150-76, 7150-777					





SCC thresh. str. ST, ASTM G4 20 days, tsi	lloy products Exco rating ASTM G34	XX series aluminum ( KK:, L-T touchness,	ns for various 7x		Longitudina) p	Table 1	
ST, ASTM G4 20 days, ksi							
		ksi (in) <sup>1/2</sup>	Elong, %	Compr. yld. strength, ksi (Mpa)	Tens. yid. strength, ksi (Mpa)	Ult, tens, strength, ksi (Mpa)	Alloy/temper
			00 in (25.2 mm)	Plate 1			
10 (typical	FD (typical)	26 (typical)	7	70 (483)*	72 (497)*	79 (545)*	7075-1051
<10 (typical	ED	<18 (typical)	5	73 (504)*	73 (504)*	84 (580)*	7178-T651
15 (min)	EB	26 (typical)	7	88 (607)*	88 (607)*	91 (628)*	7055-17751
25 (min)	EB	27 (typical)	8	77 (531) <sup>h</sup>	78 (538) <sup>b</sup>	84 (579) <sup>h</sup>	7150-17751
20 (min)	EB	31 (typical)	9	68 (441)*	71 (462)*	8D (552) <sup>2</sup>	7050-17651
35 (min)	EB	32 (typical)	10	64 (442)*	67 (462)"	76 (524)*	7050-17451
40 (min)	CA .	50 (typical)	10	60 (414)*	62 (428) <sup>a</sup>	72 (497)*	7475-17351
		4)	0.500 in (12.7 mn	Extrusion.			
10 (typical	ED (typical)	27 (typical)	7	76 (524)4	76 (524) <sup>a</sup>	85 (587)*	7075-76511
<10 (typical	ED (typical)	<18 (typical)	5	79 (545)*	81(559)*	90 (621)3	7178-76511
15 (typical	EB	30 (typical)	9	94 (649)4	93 (642)2	95 (656)*	7055-177511
25 (min)	EB	27 (typical)	9	83 (572) <sup>h</sup>		88 (607) <sup>1</sup>	7150 177511
17 (min)	EB	40 (typical)	7	69 (476) <sup>h</sup>	69 (476) <sup>h</sup>	79 (545) <sup>t</sup>	7050-776511
		4)	e, 4.00 in (102 mn	Die-forging			
10 (1.1)	ED (typical)	29 (typical)	7		62 (428) <sup>h</sup>	73 (504) <sup>b</sup>	7075-T6xx
10 (100)001		25 (typical)	4		65 (449)*	74 (511)2	
10 (typical 35 (typical			4		62 (429) <sup>a</sup>	72 (497)*	7055 T74xx
35 (typical		29 (typical)					
35 (typical 35 (typical	EB		7		60 (414) <sup>b</sup>	70 (483)*	7050-T74xx
35 (typical		29 (typical) 27 (typical) 30 (typical)	7		60 (414) <sup>h</sup> 63 (435) <sup>h</sup>	70 (483) <sup>*</sup> 73 (504) <sup>*</sup>	7050-T74xx 7175-T74xx
	EH EA ED (typical) ED (typical) EB EB EB EB	32 (typical) 50 (typical) 27 (typical) <18 (typical) 30 (typical) 27 (typical) 27 (typical) 27 (typical) 29 (typical) 29 (typical) 25 (typical)	10 19 0.500 in (12.7 mn 7 5 9 9	64 (442)* 60 (414)* <i>Extrusion,</i> 76 (524)* 99 (545)* 91 (649)* 83 (572) <sup>h</sup> 69 (476) <sup>h</sup>	6? (462) <sup>a</sup> 62 (428) <sup>a</sup> 81(559) <sup>a</sup> 93 (642) <sup>a</sup> 83 (572) <sup>b</sup> 69 (476) <sup>b</sup> 62 (428) <sup>b</sup> 65 (449) <sup>a</sup>	76 (524) <sup>4</sup> 72 (497) <sup>4</sup> 85 (587) <sup>4</sup> 96 (621) <sup>3</sup> 95 (656) <sup>2</sup> 88 (607) <sup>1</sup> 79 (545) <sup>4</sup> 73 (504) <sup>6</sup> 74 (511) <sup>2</sup>	7050-T7451 7475-T7351 7075-T6511 7178-T6511 7055-T77511 7055-T77511 7050-T76511 7075-T6xx 7055-T76xx





















































Five Tasks of ASIP USAF Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAStLE)						
DESIGN INFORMATION	DESIGN ANALYSES & DEVELOPMENT TESTING	FULL-SCALE TESTING	CERTIFICATION & FORCE MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT	FORCE MANAGEMENT EXECUTION		
3.1.1 ASIP Master Plan	5.24 Material and Joint Allowables Testing	5.3.1 Static Tests	3.4.1 Certification Analyses	5.5.1 Individual Aircraft Tracking (IAT) Program		
5.1.2 Design Service Life & Design Usage	5.2.2 Loads Analysis	5.3.2 First Flight Verification Ground Tests	5.4.2 Strength Summary & Operating Restrictions (SSOR)	5.5.2 Rotorcraft Dynamic Component Tracking (RDCT) Program		
5.1.3 Structural Design Criteria	5.2.3 Design Service Loads Spectra	5.3.3 Flight Tests	5.4.3 Force Structural Maintenance Plan (FSMP)	5.5.3 Loads/Environment Spectra Survey (L/ESS)		
5.1.4 Durability and Damage Tolerance Control Program	5.2.4 Design Chemical/Thermal Environment Spectra	3.3.4 Dwability Tests	5.4.4 Loads/Environment Spectra Survey (L/ESS) Development	3.3.4 ASIP Manual		
5.1.5 Corrosion Prevention & Control Program (CPCP)	5.2.3 Stress Analysis	5.3.5 Damage Tolerance Tests	5.4.5 Individual Aircraft Tracking (IAT) Program Development	3.3.3 Aircraft Structural Records		
5.1.6 Nondestructive	5.2.6 Damage Tolerance	5.3.6 Climatic Tests	54.6 Rotorcraft Dynamic	5.5.6 Force Management		



## **APPENDIX C: Case Study Scenario Handouts**

Case Study 1: A-10 Wing Station 23 "Hog Up" Program	С3
Case Study 2: Failure Modes	C9
Case Study 3: Corrosion	C15
Case Study 4: Fatigue	C23
Case Study 5: Summary Case Studies	C29

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

-
















































### Case Study 3

#### Scenario:

You are assigned to a large strategic cargo aircraft. A crack with an outer surface length of more than ½ inch was discovered at a fuselage fastener hole during a scheduled inspection. For various reasons, the panel was removed and replaced. You have been assigned to report on the root cause of failure so that the problem might be better understood. Figure 1 is a close-up photograph of the failed area in the panel.



Figure 1: Macroscopic photograph of crack in panel.

#### **Method and Data:**

Working with the failure analysis lab's metallurgist you first excise the finding from the panel per the white lines in Figure 1. After examination you notice that the crack is through the part and, judging by the top and bottom surface, seems to take a path through the thickness which is not perpendicular to either surface (as shown in Figure 2) You determine to open the crack via an applied shear load (also as shown in Figure 2).



Figure 2: Schematic of through thickness crack and direction of shear load applied to open the crack.

Figure 3 is a macroscopic photo of both halves after opening showing one of the fracture surfaces.

Spring 2006



Figure 3: Macroscopic photo of both halves after opening.

Figure 4 is a microscopic image of both fracture surfaces which show a fibrous woody structure with a rough surface and dull luster.



Figure 4: High magnification image of a) right half of fracture surface as shown in Figure 3 and b) the opposite of the same fracture surface.

Page 2 of 7

#### WR-ALC Failure Analysis & Prevention

The metallurgist notes from the examination that a clear initiation site is evident in an area of pitting corrosion at the intersection of the countersink and the bore of the hole. This initiation site is noted in the high magnification scanning electron microscope (SEM) image of Figure 5.



Figure 5: SEM image with the initiation site noted by the red circle.

Since you noted a rough surface and a dull luster in portions of the fracture surface you ask that an elemental analysis be performed of these areas. Figure 6 is a typical elemental analysis performed in these areas which shows electron image, elemental analysis and energy spectrum.



Figure 6: Elemental analysis from location 1 of the fracture surface with electron image, elemental composition and energy spectrum.



Figure 7: Elemental analysis from location 2 of the fracture surface with electron image, elemental composition and energy spectrum.

Finally, you have the region just ahead of the visible surface crack front (as noted by the blue arrows in Figure 1) polished and etched for detailed SEM observation. Figure 8 shows the resulting SEM images of this polished surface as a composite of the entire surface through the thickness and a higher magnification close-up of an area of in-plane cracks near the mid-thickness.

Spring 2006



Figure 8: SEM images showing a) a composite of the surface across the entire part thickness and b) a close-up of the area shown by the red box in Figure 8a.

Notes:

Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (USAFA/DFE Case Study 3 Handout doc	EM)
Case Study 3 Handout.doc	- C21 -

# **Case Study 4**

## Scenario:

You have received a skin panel which was replaced on a tactical cargo aircraft. This panel had been inspected by bolt hole eddy current (BHEC) and several indications were found. All BHEC indication showed good signal to noise ratios with dominant peeks at the orientations noted. You have been tasked to determine the source of these NDI indications. To accomplish this task you have the following metallographic evaluation data. Comment on any additional details which you deem relevant in each finding and suggest any further testing you feel would be necessary to support your conclusions.

# Method and Data:



Stereo micrograph of hole bore near indication

Typical micrograph of polished surface from 5:00 indication. Surfaced polished to within ~250 microns of the hole bore with similar results.

Spring 2006



## 100% BHEC Indications at the 7:00 and 8:00 Orientations

Specimen as removed from skin panel. The blue lines indicate section cuts made for opening at the indication location.



SEM of opened fracture surface



Close up of area shown by red box

Page 2 of 4

Spring 2006



80% BHEC Indication at the 7:00 Orientation

Specimen as removed from skin panel



Schematic of hole sectioning



Stereo micrograph of hole bore



Typical optical micrograph of polished surface from 7:00 indication. Surfaced polished to within ~250 microns of the hole bore with similar results.

Spring 2006

	<u> </u>	 <u> </u>	 	<del>.</del>	
	·····		 		
		 	 		A
	<u> </u>	 	 		
		 	 		·
·····		 	 ····		
		 r	 		
B		 <u>.</u>	 <u> </u>		

# **Case Study 5**

### Scenario:

A crown skin panel has been removed from a large strategic air lifter after finding numerous crack indications. As shown in Figure 1, the subject skin panel is between the fuselage stations 1844 and 1884 and stringers 72 and 96



#### Figure 1: Subject crown skin panel location.

The crack indications (findings) are primarily on the forward and aft edges of skin panels. The numbers overlaid on this panel in Figure 2 show the rough locations of the findings in the subject panel. Determine the failure mode of finding 29.



Figure 2: Location of crack indication in crown skin panel.

Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (USAFA/DFEM) Case Study 5 Handout.doc - C29 -

### Method and Data:

After making some judgment as to the likely loading environment you move on to detailed metallurgical and fractographic evaluation of the finding. Figure 3 shows a close up view of the finding and the section made for studying the crack cross section. The resulting polished cross-section is shown in Figure 4. The images shown in Figure 5 are SEM close-ups of various locations in Figure 4.



Figure 3: Finding 29 with red line indicating section made to study the crack cross-section.



Figure 4: Composite SEM images of polished cross section A-A from Figure 3.



Figure 5: Close up images of various locations from Figure 4.

An investigation of the fracture surface by the metallurgists revealed the initiation site to be a pit on the forward edge (Figure 6). Also noted during the metallurgist's examination of the fracture surface was extensive corrosion damage. Accordingly you have an elemental analysis (EDAX) performed of this region. A typical EDAX result is given in Figure 7.



Figure 6: SEM image of the initiation site at a pit on the forward edge of the panel.

Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (USAFA/DFEM) Case Study 5 Handout.doc - C31 -



Element	Weight (%)	Atomic (%)
0	49.5	63.4
Al	39.3	29.8
Mg	1.1	0.9
Si	3.1	2.2
<b>P</b>	2.5	1.6
State S	1.5	0.9
K K	0.2	0.1
Ca	0.3	0.1
Cr	0.5	0.2
Fe	0.6	0.3
Zn	1.5	0.5
Total	100	100

Figure 7: Typical elemental EDAX analysis of the fracture surface with electron image, energy spectrum and elemental composition.

Finally you conduct a detail examination of the fracture surface. Figure 8 shows samples of images taken from these surfaces. Images are given from both the primary and secondary crack surfaces.



Figure 8: Images taken from the fracture surface. Note that the primary crack at 1mm from the initiation site is also characterized by quasi cleavage planes denoted by "c" indicating brittle failure.

Notes:

Spring 2006

Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (USAFA/DFEM) Case Study 5 Handout.doc	- C35 -

Page 6 of 6

USAF Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CAStLE) USAFA-TR-2006-08

# **APPENDIX D: Graphical Material used to Present Guest Lectures**

WEDNESDAY	
Lesson 13: Corrosion Guest	D3
THURSDAY	
Working Lunch: AFGROW Overview	D11
FRIDAY	
Lesson 21: Nondestructive Inspection Gue	est D47






	Air Force Corrosion Preventi	on 🌈				
<b>**</b> 44., 19837	and Control Office USAF Academy Center for Aircraft Structural Life Extension (CA	StLE)				
	Mission					
	Ensure the Air Force has an effective program to prever control corrosion and minimize the impact					
	of corrosion on Air Force combat capability					
	rected by HQ USAF: Manage AF Corrosion Maintenau I 21-105, Air and Space Equipment Structural Maintenance, Apr 03)	nce Program				
	Engineering and Technical Assistance					
	Engineering Responsibility for 5 Technical Orders	Customers: - Field Units				
	Corrosion Surveys of Major Commands and					
	Weapon Systems	- Major Commands				
	<ul> <li>Weapon System Corrosion Prevention Advisory Boards</li> </ul>	- System Managers - Air Logistics				
	Host Annual USAF Corrosion Conference	Centers				
	Support Corrosion Training	- AF Research				
	<ul> <li>Facility Requirements for Corrosion Maintenance</li> </ul>	Laboratory				
	Cost of Corrosion Studies					
	Transition Corrosion Technologies to Users					







Total Costs, Then Yr Dollars			AF O&M Budget, Then Yr Dollars					
1990	1997	2001	2004	1990	1997	2001	2004	
\$720	\$795	\$1,139	\$1,497	\$25,160	\$22,728	\$29,328	\$38,406	
Tota	Total Costs, Adjusted to 2004 \$'s				AF O&M Budget, adjusted to 2004 \$'s			
1990	1997	2001	2004	1990	1997	2001	2004	
\$926	\$857	\$1,175	\$1,497	\$32,342	\$24,512	\$30,246	\$38,406	
Согго	Corrosion Cost Growth as a Constant Compounding Rate				Corrosion Proportion of AF O&M Budget			
					1997	2001	2004	
	5.23%				3.50%	3.88%	3.90%	
	5.23			2.86%			3.50 %	
	Fleet Size S	itudy Year					3.30 %	











This Page Intentionally Left Blank





















































Layout of AFGROW						
	nadion Wrdse Helt ■ ■ ■ 0 - 50 + 57   Menu / Toolbars where the output care to standard training					
1e-001 1e-002 1e-003 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-004 1e-002	Animation Frame					
g 1=005 Main Frame 1=006 1=007 1=009 1=010 1=1 10 100						
For Help, press F1	Frame Status Bar					










































































# Summing up each growth increment...



Summing up each growth		
da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+DA+da+da+da+da	la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da	
da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da	anne built and an	
da+da+da+da+da+da+da+	la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da la+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+da+d	



# Summing up each cycle increment...







This Page Intentionally Left Blank

























Summary of POD Results High Frequency Eddy Current Surface Inspections			
Test Condition	Location	a <sub>90/50</sub> (inch)	a <sub>90/95</sub> , a <sub>NDE</sub> (inch)
Plate	Depot	0.135	0.322
"	Field	0.271	0.561
Angles	Depot	0.432	>0.982
"	Field	Indeterminate	Indeterminate
Lug w/	Depot	0.084	0.148
fixture	Field	0.125	Indeterminate
Lug w/	🤝 Depot	0.146	0.284
template	Field	0.165	Indeterminate
Lug	// Depot	0.161	0.268
"	Field	0.215	Indeterminate

































































# Top 10 Ways You Know You've Been in the Aging Aircraft Business Too Long



- 6. As years go by, more pages in your flight manual turn-up missing.
- 7. Your crew chief has observed recent crack growth in your lower rear bulkhead...stop drilling is not an option.
- 8. Your buddies call you "Hangar Queen"
- 9. Heavy usage, exceeding original design requirements, has resulted in excessive unplanned maintenance.
- 10. Weight penalty from conformal fuel tank mods. has negated enhanced endurance goals.

# Top 10 Ways You Know You've Been in the Aging Aircraft Business Too Long

- 1. Two words...INFERIOR AERODYNAMICS
- 2. Your arresting hook does not deploy as quickly as it use to...sometimes not at all.
- 3. The frequency of required borescope inspections has increased dramatically.
- 4. Your bilge requires constant draining.
- 5. Even with optics upgrades your night vision capability is limited.



F-15 FSMP NDI Assump	otions	S.	
IN-SERVICE FLAW SIZES RELIABLY DETECTED BY STATE-OF-THE-ART NDI			
EDDY CURRENT FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - EMBEDDED CRACK FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - CORNER CRACK FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE EMBEDDED CRACK SURFACE CRACK EDGE CRACK ULTRASONIC FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE EMBEDDED CRACK FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE EMBEDDED CRACK SURFACE CRACK	0.050 x 0.025 0.050 x 0.050 0.125 x 0.100 0.160 x 0.100 0.050 x 0.025 0.050 x 0.050 0.100 x 0.050 0.100 x 0.050		
EDGE CRACK     EMBEDDED CRACK PENETRANT     SUFFACE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2)     EDGE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2)	6.070 x 0.070 0.100 x 0.050 0.100 x 0.025 0.050 x 0.050		
<ul> <li>SURFACE CRACK - ULTRAHIGH SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 4)</li> <li>CRACK - ULTRAHIGH SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 4)</li> <li>MAGNT IIC PARTICLE</li> <li>SURFACE CRACK</li> <li>EDOL CRACK</li> </ul>	6.030 x 0.015 9.015 x 0.015 0.050 x 0 025 9.050 x 0.030		
	IN-SERVICE FLAW SIZES RELIABLY DETECTED BY STATL-OF-THE-ART NDI EDDY CURRENT • FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - EMBEDDED CRACK • FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - CORNER CRACK • FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE EMBEDDED CRACK • STREASE (FRACK) • EDGI CRACK ULTRASONIC • FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE CORNER CRACK • SUBFACE (FRACK) • EDGI CRACK ULTRASONIC • FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE CORNER CRACK • SUBFACE (CRACK) • EMBEDDED CRACK • EMBEDDED CRACK • EMBEDDED CRACK DEDG CRACK • EMBEDDED CRACK • EMBEDDED CRACK • EDGIC CRACK MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2) • SUBFACE (CRACK ULTRAINGH SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2) • CRACK ULTRAINGH SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 4) MAGNET IN FARILLE • SURFACE (CRACK	STATE-OF-THE-ART NDI       EDDY CURRENT       FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - EMBEDDED CRACK     0.050 x 0.025       FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - CORNER CRACK     0.050 x 0.050       FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - CORNER CRACK     0.050 x 0.050       FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER REMOVED - CORNER CRACK     0.100 x 0.050       STRAFE CRACK     0.100 x 0.050       STRAFE CRACK     0.100 x 0.050       ULTRASONIC       FROM HOLE WITH FASTENER IN PLACE CORNER CRACK     0.100 x 0.050       ULTRASONIC       STRAFE CRACK     0.100 x 0.050       ULTRASONIC       STRAFE CRACK       STRAFE CRACK       STRAFE CRACK       STRAFE CRACK       STRAFE CRACK       STRAFE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2)       OLION SONS       PENETRANT       SURFACE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2)       OLION SONS       SURFACE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 2)       OLION SONS       SURFACE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 4)       OLION SONS 0.025       SURFACE CRACK - MEDIUM SENSITIVITY (LEVEL 4) <td< td=""></td<>	



			3LB 2.2-3 (continue	•	
	AU		RAL MAINTENAN L MAINTENANCE	CE REQUIREMENTS SUMMARY	
MAINTENANCE AREA	IAT OR RELATED NO,	REFERENCE. PSMP SECTION	INITIAL INSPECTION (FLT HES)	RFINSPECTION INTERVAL (FLT HRS)	REQUIRED NDI DETECTION CAPABILITY (INCHES)
Vertical Stabiliter Area:					
1677228 Vertical Tail Center Attach Fitting	T7228BA	3.6.1	12,000	6,000	2c = 0.05
1686224 Upper Bbd at FS 479, Web Fillet Radius neur Flange Su	в6724ва Ф	3.6.2	10,080	6,000	2c = 0.05
16B6224 Upper Bbd at FS 479, Vertical Tail Attach Pad Radii	B6224AC	3.6.3	TBD	TBD	2c - 0.05
Seriesmet Tall Areas					
16T7467 Horizontal Tail Pivor Shaft Bolt Hole #7	<b>17467AA</b>	3.7.1	<b>10,1</b> 10	6,000	0.03
6T7467 Horizontal Tail Pivot Shaft Root Radius	T7467BA	3.7.2	10,250	6,000	2c = 0.05

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

### **APPENDIX E: End-of-Course Survey Raw Data**

*Note:* All data provide herein has been transcribed precisely as it was received. Answers from individual respondents are separated by a space.

### 1. What did you like about this course?

The instructors were knowledgeable with experience.

I liked the info on failure types and causes. More info on this would have been help full.

Instructors were easy to understand and made the course relevant with practical experiences.

All the information provided about the fracture mechanics, specificall condition of failure, Residual stress, corrosion, & Fatigue.

New material helped me understand problems outside my job. Case studies It put pieces together

It was well organized and executed with good pacing. The case studies really helped grow my understanding. I also like the use of equations to describe relationships between contributing factors.

Very informative. Well planned out. Each section is appropriate length. The real life examples were great. I seem to relate better when examples come from aircraft we actually work on and are familiar with.

Case studies were helpful

The level of information was good. Wasn't over my head and it wasn't "dumbed" down. It's nice to have a class geared to AF engineers specifically.

Real world examples of common failure problems associated with AF aircraft

Lots of good real-world examples.

I liked the examples, pictures, and applications given in each lesson. It was helpful to see actual damages/failures, reasons why they probably occurred, how they were repaired, and how they could be prevented in the future.

I enjoyed how the class helped to put what I learned I school in context to my job.

Great info

- Geat content

- Information is directly related to day-to-day job.

It was a great review of materials and LEFM courses. The course did a good job of providing a "Whole AF" view of current methodologies

I liked having <del>products</del> material and information directly related to work done at the ALC Understanding (basic) of LEFM helps maintain aging A/C. I didn't get much of this at school.

The binder, cd, informative lectures and discussion, use of fear of embarrasment to help keep us focused, case studies and topic teasers, note pad, group work.

NdI fatige corrosion..everything case studies

Learning about NDI, methods for fixing cracks, exposure to common aircraft structural problems

Good setup. (50min/10min). Multiple instructors helped break things up- level of discussions was good.

Very relavent to Depot engineering

### 2. What did you dislike about this course?

1. Too much knowledge can be confussing and make it hard to understand the instructors. The 'open-ended' questions during instruction took a lot of assumption- that everyone had familiarity and prerequisite subjects.

2. the entire AFGROW presentation.

Although I thought the metallography & fractology was interesting, I thought as an a practical application for an engineer working on repairs was to indepth. The reports that are returned from failure analysis was are very important.

Nothing really comes to mind

I enjoyed the course a lot. I did not see anything I dislike. This is a good course.

Pictures were too small

Local students probably used extra time to check <del>on</del> their jobs but for someone TDY I could have taken more information.

The level of the material seemed to oscillate. One lesson would be very simplistic while the next was ridden with equations. It would have been better had it steadily ramped up. I also thought there should have been more opportunities for interaction perhaps with mini case studies.

N/A ? the chairs

Some of the guest speakers were dry and took too much time.

The AFGROW demonstration was interesting but hard to follow. I prefer to have a computer to follow along for software demos.

Time - I felt that sometimes we could have spent a little more time on certain issues and topics. I just feel like some of the info was jam-packed into the 50 minute sessions

Too repetitive. All of this material could easily be covered in 5 half days

Given the time constraint, it was sometimes hard to follow the lesson "completely" (fully comprehend) - if the course was a little longer (?), perhaps the more difficult topics could be better understood.

I thought there could have been some more real world examples. Also, the guest presenters topics were a little too complex

- The orientation of some pictures & diagrams were difficult to discern. View directions should be clearly marked when showing multiple views.

Some of the guest lectures did not seem to be familiar with the idea of the course and previous topics covered

With people coming from different backgrounds, it is hard not to cover material that some people already have knowledge about. This may help for class discussions, but not enough to spend so much time reviewing.

On the case studies, it is hard to piece some of the pictures together, add more orientation labels on pictures.

The non technical briefs To short

Repetition; often veered off topic; this course should be shorter timewise

Overall none – some areas had too much info and some not enough. Tough call on who needs what though

The AFGROW is not something the majority of engineers will use. The "working lunch" made for a very long day – no break.

# 3. Were having printed materials (your binder) an aid to your experience this week?

Absolutely.

the material in the elass binder was very good.

Very helpful

Yes.

Yes with the case studies of cource looking back helped Not as much with lecture

Yes.

Yes. It is nice to be able to listen and concentrate on the lecture instead of worrying about taking notes. Plus, I can take the pictures with me.

Yes

Absolutely. Didn't feel like I had to take extensive notes, allowed better focus.

Yes, it was easier to follow along

Yes

Yes. Great reference to keep as well. Being as people sitting in front of me were blocking some of my view, it was great to have them directly in front of me.

Yes. I thought the materials were very helpful.

Yes

Yes.

Absolutly!

Yes because notes were not required to be duplicated. It was a good reference for other lessons.

Oh yes, its great not having to write alot when you are trying to listen.

Yes, good for taking notes for future reference

Yes thanks

Yes – although having more details provided (ie what was said in class would help later on (months/years after course)

Yes, could easily turn to notes when projected pictures hard to see; also, could refer back

# 4. Do you think you will reference your book after this week? YES NO

YES	NO
22	0

# 5. Do you think you will reference your CD after this week? YES NO

YES	NO
22	0

### 6. Did the hour-long daily case studies support the course objectives?

Yes, working in groups helped my lack of knowledge and helped my learning and understanding.

Yes, I thought they were relevant to each course.

I think so. The only recommendations I have for the case study, is to provide the results from the lab at the end of the case study in order to use it as a reference in the future.

Yes add more of them when you go from 6 to 7 lessons/day

Yes.

Yes, they helped support what we were learning and made us "think." Many times I can listen to a lecture and understand all the concepts but it is not until I use this information before I really learn it and feel more comfortable with the material. \* Really enjoyed the Topic Teasers

### Yes

Yes, without practice, this would have been much less effective. Pictures and real world examples always help.

Yes, it brought the course material to "light." It made the course material relevant

Yes

Yes – these were very helpful. They teach lessons and support theory.

Yes.

Yes

Yes.

good – but they were very repetitive. They were all pretty much the same.

Yes, they were a good way to apply and reinforce material. Keep them

Yes.

Yes but more details would be helpful

Yes very much. Applying the material just learned <u>always</u> reinforces the learning process.

Yes.

Yes, they were good.

# 7. What changes or additions would you suggest to make this course better for future offerings?

Some added pages <del>with</del> for background information refreshment. Include the speakers contact info in the reference book/binder.

I would like to see more short courses (week or so) that go into several of these topics more in depth.

I would have liked more time on LEFM

<u>See #6</u>.

Increase time 10% to 20% with additional <u>case studies</u> and <u>real life examples</u> This is a great overview Now develop additional follow on course just for corrosion and fatigue and NDI

The order of lessons should be rethought. The instructors referenced fatigue repeatedly & always followed that with "We'll discuss that [a few days] later." Rather than having topics grouped consecutively like Fatigue I, II, III being taught in a row, perhaps introduce the simple material early & return to the advanced discussion later.

Maybe work some real life examples from beginning to end. There were lectures that explained the theories and final result but not the details in "working" the problem. The lecture on AFGROW was informative but should not have been as in depth or should have started from the beginning with a problem and worked thru it.

 Have more lessons during the week (M-Th) about 7 lessons per day. Get out early Friday.
 Have little quizes at the end of each lesson to ensure we have learned everything. Immedialty go over the quiz.

More diverse practice problems. It seemed like all of them were scc's.

More time on topics

Compress the course, it shouldn't take 5 full days

Having more discussions/case studies as a class could initiate new ideas, good questions, and get your thoughts flowing.

More real world examples so that it can be related to our jobs better.

Have the students work example fatigue problems

- Add list of online references

- After each lesson, cite a reference (text, website, T.O., etc.) that class members can review for further study of the topic.

Get rid of some of the super basic stuff and talk more about "why" things fail

For a 5 day course, I would spend 3 days doing general review on basic concepts. Then, on the last 2 days, focus on more in depth topics.

More case studies and topic teasers. Not more than one per lesson, though. Make graphs more readable.

More time

Moe ndi an composites/bonded repairs

This course was thoroughly thought-out. Excellent. -For the case studies, it would be helpful if the "Notes" page is separate, so we're not writing on the backs of needed figures.

# 8. Would you recommend this course to another ALC engineer? YES NO Why or why not?

YES	NO
22	0

It has plenty of relevance to the jobs of structural engineers. Makes you aware of <u>a lot</u> of options for repairs as well as for seen problems.

as a good overview of a material. this is very helpful.

For me it was a great refresher to what I learned many, many years ago in college. I think others in my situation would benefit the same.

Because this is a good review material. also, as structure Enginer this class has a lot of information that will keep us up todate and we can apply to problems that we deal on daily basis. Note, I wished I would it have this class as soon as I got here (4 years ago).

Anyone in program office or ASIP related support design and acquisition

I grew a basic understanding of structural failure and analysis despite not having a structures background.

I was able to successfully evaluate all of the evidence in the final case study to produce a correct analysis.

This is attributable to strong instruction.

This course covers many topics that we see everyday. It will help engineers with the way the "think" about failures and ways to prevent them.

It helped me to understand what different kind of failures look like

All the information is pretty much ALC-specific. It's nice to get a perspective from all of airframes instead of just the one you work on. You could probably justify making this a mandatory class for AF structures eng'rs

It makes things we will need to one-day know as an engineer concerning the fleets of aging aircraft the AF has

I thought it was a good way to bring work & education together.

Condenses a wide range of information pertinent to a/c structural engineering that otherwise readily available to new engineers. This course & the provided book & CD are great resources for future reference.

Every ALC engineer should take this after 6 months of ALC work.

This is what we need here!

After getting a good understanding of the basics, the material substitution lesson was very helpul helpful. This should be elaborated on. paul.hrad@robins.af.mil

I found this course to be very informative and enjoyable most of the time.

- Besides ABDR this is the only training that has be relivent and helpful to my Job

- I'm looking forward to future course offerings

Although mostly those in Aircraft spo or interested in moving to one in future.

New engineers will get excellent overview, old engineers get good refresher plus there's always something new to learn

This Page Intentionally Left Blank